DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

3 June 2020
7.00 pm
Virtual meeting
You Tube link: https://youtu.be/pRiyzWxq2q8

Contact
Ian.Smith
democraticservices@watford.gov.uk
01923 278323
For further information about attending meetings please visit the council’s website.

Publication date: 26 May 2020

Committee Membership
Councillor P Jeffree (Chair)
Councillor S Johnson (Vice-Chair)
Councillors N Bell, K Collett, M Mills, J Pattinson, I Sharpe, R Smith and M Watkin

Agenda
Part A – Open to the Public
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Disclosure of interests

3.

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 26 May 2020 will be signed at the next nonvirtual meeting. The minutes were verbally agreed by the committee.

CONDUCT OF THE MEETING
The committee will take items in the following order:
1. All items where people wish to speak and have registered with Democratic
Services.
2. Any remaining items the committee agrees can be determined without further
debate.
3. Those applications which the committee wishes to discuss in detail.
4.

20/00300/FUL - Land Rear Of 250 St Albans Road (Pages 5 - 16)

5.

20/00356/FUL 807 St Albans Road Watford WD25 0LE (Pages 17 - 29)

6.

20/00121/VARM - 7-15 Bridle Path (Pages 30 - 39)

Introduction
Please note that the officer report is a summary of the issues including representations
made and consultation responses. Full details of the applications, plans submitted,
supporting information and documents, representations made, consultation responses
and correspondence can be found on the council’s web based Public Access system using
the application reference or address.
Specific policy considerations for each application are detailed within the individual
reports. The background papers and policy framework listed below have been relied upon
in the preparation of the reports in this agenda.
Background papers
 The current planning applications under consideration and correspondence related
to that application.
 All relevant third party representations and consultation replies received.
Policy Framework
 The Statutory Plans and Supplementary Planning Guidance, together with relevant
Government legislation, Circulars, Advice, Orders, Directions and Guidance listed
below:
Local Planning Documents
Local Development Documents provide the framework for making planning decisions.
These can be found on the Council’s website and include:
 the existing Local Plan which consists of the Core Strategy, saved policies in the
Watford District Plan 2000 and Proposals Map); and
 Supplementary Planning Documents.
County Planning Documents
The Hertfordshire Waste Local Plan and Minerals Local Plan prepared by Hertfordshire
County Council are material considerations alongside the Watford Local Plan. These
documents can be found on the county council’s website.
National Planning Documents
Key legislation can be found using this weblink, including:
 Growth and Infrastructure Act (2013)
 Housing and Planning Act (2016)







Localism Act (2011) and subsequent amendments
Planning Act (2008) and subsequent amendments
Planning and Compulsory Planning Act (2004) and subsequent amendments
Town and Country Planning Act (1990) and subsequent amendments
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and
subsequent amendments.

National guidance can be found on the government service and information website,
including:
 National Planning Policy Framework (revised February 2019) and supporting
Technical Guidance
 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (web based)
 Planning policy for traveller sites
 Relevant government circulars
 Relevant Ministerial Statements (which will be referred to in the individual reports
as necessary)
Section 106 Planning obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The Council introduced the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) with effect from 1 April
2015. The CIL charge covers a wide range of infrastructure as set out in the Council’s
Regulation 123 list, including highways and transport improvements, education provision,
youth facilities, childcare facilities, children’s play space, adult care services, open space
and sports facilities. CIL is chargeable on the relevant net additional floorspace created by
the development. The charge is non-negotiable and is calculated at the time that planning
permission is granted where relevant. Section 106 planning obligations can only be used
to secure affordable housing provision and other site specific requirements, such as the
removal of entitlement to parking permits in Controlled Parking Zones and the provision of
fire hydrants.
Human Rights implications
The Local Planning Authority is justified in interfering with the applicant’s human rights in
order to alleviate any adverse effect on adjoining properties and their occupiers and on
general public amenity. With regard to any infringement of third party human rights,
these are not considered to be of such a nature and degree as to override the human
rights of the applicant and therefore warrant refusal of planning permission.

Agenda Item 4

Committee date
Application reference
Site address
Proposal

Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
Committee Item
Target decision date
(Agreed Extension)
Statutory publicity
Case Officer
Ward
1.

Wednesday, 3rd June 2020
20/00300/FUL
Land Rear Of 250 St Albans Road, Watford WD24 4AX
Change of use from workshop/office to dwelling
incorporating two dormer windows in the front roofslope
and new windows and doors in the elevations
Taj Watford Homaid
Mr Steven York
Minor Dwelling
To be approved and number of objections
8th May 2020
No Press Advert and No Site Notice published.
Neighbouring properties consulted 16th March 2020.
Obafemi Okusipe, obafemi.okusipe@watford.gov.uk
Callowland

Recommendation
That the application be approved subject to the section 106 heads of terms
and conditions as set out in Section 8 of this report.

2.

Site and surroundings

2.1

The application site comprises a parcel of land used for covered storage and a
detached, single storey workshop with roof lights at the rear of 250 St Albans
Road. The detached building was converted from a double garage to a
workshop and is accessible from Cromer Road. As a private access path abuts
the rear of the site to the north. The application site is fronted by a cul-de-sac
created to form a turning head with yellow line waiting restrictions. The
detached building is fenced off and separated from 250 St Albans Road and
the rear parcel of land is also fenced off and separated from the rest of the
plot. There is an existing on-site car parking space to the side of the building.

2.2

The application site is located within a residential neighbourhood,
characterised by Victorian terraced housing in a sustainable location adjoining
the North Watford Shopping Centre. The site is not located in a designated
conservation area or other Article 2(3) land and is not subject to an Article 4
direction.

Page 5

3

Summary of the proposal

3.1

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for the proposed change of use
from a workshop/office to a single, self-contained dwelling. The proposed
development would utilise the existing footprint to provide a kitchen/living
area with an integral garage for one car at ground floor and two bedrooms
(12.7m2 to 19.3m2) at first floor within the roof space each served by a new
front dormer window. The proposal incorporates 83.2m2 gross internal floor
area, 3.59m2 bin/cycle provision, a 17m2 private amenity space to the east of
the building and 40m2 private amenity space to the west of the building. This
latter provision will involve the demolition of an existing single storey
structure used to provide covered storage at the rear of the ground floor
commercial unit of No. 250.

3.2

Conclusion
The change of use from a workshop/office to a self-contained dwelling is
considered acceptable in principle. The proposed additional area of private
amenity space to the west of the building is considered sufficient to overcome
the sole reason for a previous appeal being dismissed. The siting of the
building will ensure that the proposed dormer windows will have no
significant adverse impacts on surrounding residential properties. The
proposed development would provide good quality accommodation and an
acceptable level of amenity for future occupiers. The provision of one on-site
parking space is acceptable.

4.

Relevant policies
Members should refer to the background papers attached to the agenda.
These highlight the policy framework under which this application is
determined. Specific policy considerations with regard to this particular
application are detailed in Section 6 below.

5.

Relevant site history/background information

5.1

The following planning history is relevant to this application:
15/01321/FUL - Demolition of existing garages and construction of a new 1
bedroom house. Planning permission refused on 10.11.2015.

Page 6

16/00560/FUL - Change of use from disused garages to office.
Planning permission refused on 15.06.2016.
18/00508/FUL - Proposed extension and conversion of existing garages into
furniture repair workshop/office. Conditional planning permission granted on
27.07.2018.
19/00898/FUL - Proposed change of use from workshop/office to dwelling.
Planning permission refused on 01.10.2019. An appeal against this refusal was
subsequently dismissed on appeal (see below).
5.2

Background Information
This proposal is a modification of a previous planning application under ref.
19/00898/FUL which was refused based on a poor level of accommodation
(sub-standard bedroom floor areas, unacceptable ceiling height, poor outlook)
and inadequate private amenity space. The applicant appealed this decision
and the appeal was dismissed, with the Inspector upholding the reasons for
refusal based upon a poor level of accommodation (outlook only) and
inadequate private amenity space. The current planning application has
sought to overcome the reasons for the dismissal at appeal by incorporating 2
front dormer windows, one to each of the bedrooms, to overcome poor
outlook and providing additional amenity space to the west of the application
site (40m²), which can be secured by s106 agreement.

6.

Main considerations

6.1

The main issues to be considered in the determination of the application are:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

Principle of development
Scale and design
Quality of the accommodation provided
Impact on surrounding properties
Parking

6.2

(a) Principle of development
The site is within a primarily residential area and the principal of residential
development is acceptable, subject to relevant design and amenity
considerations. Furthermore, the principal of residential development has
been established through the previous application and appeal decision.

6.3

(b) Scale and design
Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31 seeks high quality

Page 7

design in all new development. Para. 9.1 of the Residential Design Guide
(RDG) states that conversion must respect the scale and design of the host
building and must not detract from the existing character of the site and the
surrounding area. The proposed conversion would utilise the existing building
with the scale and design of the proposed front dormers and proposed
fenestration considered to be in keeping with the appearance of the building.
Although front dormers are not a feature of the locality, this is a unique, single
storey building located at the end of the turning head. Having regard to the
location of the site and its context, it is not considered to have any harmful
impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area.
6.4

(c) Quality of the accommodation provided
The proposed change of use would provide a 2 bedroom, 3 person dwelling
over 2 levels, with the 2 bedrooms, each with front dormer windows, having
floor areas of 10.3m2 and 14.9m2 respectively above a 1.5m ceiling height. The
overall floor area of the dwelling is 70.4m², which meets the minimum floor
area of 70m² for a two-storey, 2 bedroom, 3 person dwelling. The dormer
windows will ensure good levels of outlook and natural light to the bedrooms.

6.5

The proposal will provide 2 private garden areas of 17m² on the east side of
the building (as proposed in the previous scheme) and 40m² on the west side
of the building. The smaller area will accommodate the bin and cycle stores
for the dwelling. This area on its own was considered to be inadequate by the
appeal Inspector and was one of the reasons the appeal was dismissed. The
proposed additional garden area to the west gives a total provision of 57m²,
which exceeds the minimum guideline of 50m² in the Residential Design
Guide, although it is split between the two areas either side of the building.
Nevertheless, the new garden area of 40m² is of a useable shape and is a
similar size to many of the garden areas to the adjoining houses in Cromer
Road which vary from 35-45m². In this case, this area will provide a useable
garden for the dwelling with the smaller area being more practical for bin and
cycle storage. Overall, this is considered to be an acceptable provision for the
dwelling. The provision of the additional garden area is to be secured by a
planning obligation as this currently forms part of a different property (250, St
Albans Road).

6.6

(d) Impact on surrounding properties
The proposed development would not result in loss of daylight, outlook and
privacy to neighbouring occupiers. In particular, the proposed front dormer
windows will face towards the turning head and not give rise to unreasonable
overlooking.

6.7

(f) Parking

Page 8

The proposed change of use would provide one additional off-site car parking
space in the form of an integral garage and would provide cycle storage within
the small garden area. Given the sustainable location and access to public
transport, this level of provision is acceptable in principle. The application site
is not within a Controlled Parking Zone. It is considered that the proposed
change of use would not result in an increase in traffic generation and parking
demand that would exacerbate the on-street parking situation in this section
of Cromer Road.
7.

Consultation responses received

7.1

Statutory consultees and other organisations
Hertfordshire County Council Highway Authority
No response received.

7.2

Internal Consultees
No internal consultees.

7.3

Interested parties
Letters were sent to 46 properties in the surrounding area. Six letters of
objection and 5 letters of support were received. The main comments are
summarised below, the full letters are available to view online:
Comments

Officer response

Overdevelopment of the site

The proposal is for the conversion of the
existing building and will not result in
overdevelopment of the site.
Impact on neighbours’ amenities The proposal will not give rise to any
(privacy, outlook, daylight,)
adverse impacts to surrounding
properties.
No car parking
One on-site car parking space is to be
provided.
Provision of additional amenity
The proposed additional garden space
provision is considered acceptable.
8

Recommendation

Page 9

That planning permission be granted subject to the completion of a legal
agreement under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure
the planning obligations listed below and the following conditions:

Section 106 Heads of Terms
i)

To secure the provision of the area of land forming the western part of
the application site as private garden land for the proposed dwelling.

Conditions
1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun within
a period of three years commencing on the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following
drawings, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority:
Site location plan
Block plan (April 2020)
Existing and Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations (Amended 3/03/2020)
Section (March 2020)
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

3.

All the external surfaces of the development shall be finished in
materials to match the colour, texture and style of the existing building.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site, pursuant
to Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan: Core Strategy 2006 - 31.

4.

The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied until a detailed
soft landscaping scheme for the site has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved soft
landscaping scheme shall be carried out not later than the first available
planting and seeding season after completion of development. Any
trees or plants whether new or existing which within a period of five

Page 10

years die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall
be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and
species, or in accordance with details approved by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the
amenity of future occupiers, in accordance with Policy UD1 of the
Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31 and the Residential design
Guide 2016.
5.

The integral garage shall only be used for the parking of vehicles and
shall not be used as habitable accommodation or for any other
purpose, without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure parking provision is provided for the dwelling and to
prevent additional on-street parking.

6.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015, as amended
(or any modifications or re-enactment thereof), no development
permitted under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C, D, E and G of the
Order shall be carried out to the dwellings hereby approved without
the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure that any such
developments are carried out in a manner which will not be harmful to
the character and appearance of the site and its surroundings and will
not prove detrimental to the amenities of residents in accordance with
Policies SS1 and UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

Informatives
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

IN907 - Positive-proactive statement – GRANT
IN910 - Building Regulations
IN912 - Hours of Construction
IN909 - Street Naming and Numbering
IN913 - Community Infrastructure Levy Liability
IN914 - Section 106 Obligation

Page 11

20/00300/FUL - Land Rear Of 250 St Albans Road, Watford WD24 4AX
Location Map

Aerial View

Page 12

Existing Site Plan

Existing View from turning head

Page 13

Existing Ground and First Floor Plans

Existing Elevations

Page 14

Proposed Ground and First Floor Plans

Proposed Elevations

Page 15

Site Analysis – Additional 40m2 Amenity Space

Page 16

Agenda Item 5
Committee date
Application reference
Site address
Proposal
Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
committee Item
Target decision date
Statutory publicity
Case officer
Ward
1.

Wednesday, 3 June 2020
20/00356/FUL 807 St Albans Road Watford WD25 0LE
Demolition of existing derelict bungalow and erection of
group of 4no. private dwellings
Mr And Mrs J McGroarty
MTWarchitects
Full Planning Permission- Minor
6 objections received
05.06.2020 (extended by agreement)
Letters to adjoining dwellings
Alice Reade, alice.reade@watford.gov.uk
Stanborough

Recommendation
Approve subject to conditions as set out in section 8 of this report.

2.

Site and surroundings

2.1

The site is currently occupied by a large detached bungalow set in a wide plot
of land on the western side of St Albans Road.

2.2

Adjacent to the north is a semi-detached property 809 St Albans Road. This
property has a two-storey side extension abutting the side boundary of the
application site and is also set forward of the existing bungalow. Adjacent to
the south is a detached two-storey property 805 St Albans Road. To the west,
the site backs on to the rear gardens of the two-storey properties along the
cul-de-sac Gwent Close.

2.3

The site is not within a conservation area and does not encompass any listed
buildings. There are no protected trees on the site.

3.

Summary of the proposal

3.1

Proposal

3.2

Demolition of the existing derelict bungalow and erection of a group of 4 x 3/4
bedroom terrace dwellings of 2 storeys plus roof accommodation. The front of
the site will contain parking using the two existing vehicle entrances to the
site.

Page 17

3.3

The plans have been amended during the course of the application to correct
an accessway annotation and to reduce the depth of the proposed building
adjacent to 809 St Albans Road.

3.4

Conclusion
The proposed development of 4 houses would be appropriate in form, design,
height and layout for the site and the context. The dwellings would provide
high quality accommodation and amenity areas. On-site parking using the
existing vehicle accesses is acceptable to the Highway Authority. Following
amendments, the development has appropriate relationships with neighbours
to the side and rear and would not create adverse harm to the light, outlook
or privacy of these dwellings.

4.

Relevant policies
Members should refer to the background papers attached to the agenda.
These highlight the policy framework under which this application is
determined. Specific policy considerations with regard to this particular
application are detailed in section 6 below.

5.

Relevant site history/background information

5.1
App
Number
74/00501/FUL

Proposal

Status

Erection of single storey extension
at front and rear of bungalow

05/00793/FUL

Conditional
Planning
Permission
Withdrawn

Demolition of existing bungalow
and erection of 5 no . 2 bedroom
flats and 3 no.1 bedroom flats
together with associated access
and parking
Demolition of existing bungalow
Refused
and erection of 6 flats with
Planning
associated access, parking and
Permission
amenity
Reasons for refusal relating to
 Poor design- size, layout and siting
 Loss of outlook and privacy of neighbours
 Poor amenity for future occupiers
 Poor access/highway impact
 Financial contributions not secured

06/00679/FUL

Page 18

6.

Main considerations

6.1

The main issues to be considered in the determination of these applications
are:
(a) Principle of development
(b) Scale and design
(c) Residential amenity
(d) Impact on surrounding properties.
(e) Access, parking and highway impact
(f) Bin and bicycle storage

6.2

(a) Principle of development
The existing building on site is not listed or locally listed and is not within a
conservation area. The demolition of the building to allow for redevelopment
of the site is therefore acceptable in principle.

6.3

The site is suitable for residential development in accordance with policy HS1
of the Core Strategy. Specifically, the site is not at risk of flooding and has
access to public transport and a range of local services. Furthermore, the site
has no heritage significance or biodiversity or landscape value. The proposed
residential use would be in keeping with the residential context of the
surrounding area. The development also provides much needed family sized
3/4 bedroom homes, compliant with policy HS2 of the Core Strategy.

6.4

For these reasons, the loss of the existing building and the proposed
residential development of the site are acceptable in policy terms and are
supported in principle.

6.5

(b) Scale and design
St Albans Road consists of a varied streetscene of residential and commercial
premises. The immediate streetscene features predominantly semi-detached
and detached houses with an infill development of 3 terraced buildings on the
eastern side of the road. To the north of the site there is also the local
shopping group of Garston Park Parade.

6.6

The proposed group of terraced dwellings would be of a form appropriate
within this varied context. The development of houses, rather than flats,
maintain front doors to St Albans Road continuing residential activity and
character onto St Albans road.

6.7

The design approach includes a staggered front building line for the
development with plots A and B approximately level with 805 St Albans Road
to the south and plots C and D stepping forward. This will follow the stepped

Page 19

nature of the building line on the western side of St Albans Road. The set back
of the fronts of buildings C and D behind the front of 809 St Albans Road to
the north will ensure the development does not infringe the visual building
line and would not appear as dominant or overbearing within the streetscene.
The building also includes 1m gaps to both side boundaries to maintain
separation and avoid a cramped appearance.
6.8

The building is taller than the bungalow it replaces, however, the hipped roof
design, pitch, eaves height and ridge heights will relate comfortably to the
neighbouring properties. Specifically, the height does not exceed that of the
ridge of 809 and whilst also being set back from the road, it would not appear
as unduly large or bulky.

6.9

The design of the 4 terraced dwellings includes articulation to create the
appearance of 2 pairs and includes various elements of detailing and
articulation. Within the context of semi-detached pairs of properties showing
symmetry as well as detached houses showing asymmetrical features, this
articulation of the development will allow it to sit comfortably within the
streetscene. Front dormers are seen on buildings in this streetscene and the
proposed front dormers at 2nd floor level are acceptable.

6.10 The front landscaped area of the site is showed substantially laid to
hardstanding. Although much is required to provide the 4 car spaces shown
with turning areas, this is excessive and the dominance of hard landscaping on
the frontage is not visually acceptable. A condition has been added to request
a detailed landscaped scheme to secure a more appropriate degree of soft
landscaping at the front of the site.
6.11

(c) Residential amenity
Each dwelling consists of 3 bedrooms plus a loft room annotated as a
playroom/study. As these loft rooms for each dwelling are of a size and
location usable as a single bedroom, the dwellings has been assessed as 4 bed
6 person dwellings over 3 floors. The gross internal areas (GIAs) of the
dwellings is set out in the table below along with the required minimum
standard of Section 7.3.6 of the Residential Design Guide.

Page 20

Plot A

GIA provided
113m2

GIA standard Compliant?
112m2
Yes

Plot B

114m2

112m2

Plot C

111m2

112m2

111m2

112m2

Plot D
Table 1: GIA of proposed dwellings.

Yes
No- see
comments
below
No – see
comments
below

6.12

The GIA of plots C and D are marginally below the minimum standard,
however, as this is less than 1% below the standard, this is not considered to
be significantly harmful. The dwellings will also provide well-proportioned
accommodation with good light and outlook.

6.13

The dwellings would have private garden space each of between 66sqm and
87sqm. These garden sizes exceed the minimum standards of the Residential
Design Guide.

6.14

(d) Impact to neighbouring properties
809 St Albans Road
The existing allows the two storey property at 809 to benefit from more than
typical light and privacy at the rear. The development would be to the south
of 809 and would project to the rear of this dwelling at a greater height than
the existing bungalow. To minimise this impact, plots C and D nearest 809
have been amended during the course of the application to reduce the depth
of Plot D adjacent to 809. Although there is still a notable change to the
environment of 809, it is now considered that this would not be unduly
harmful to the occupiers.

6.15

The 45 degree lines taken on plan and elevation from the nearest ground floor
window of 809 are as marked on the proposed plans. This shows that Plot D
would not infringe the 45 degree lines taken on elevation and on plan to the
first floor. The ground floor of Plot D would marginally infringe the 45 degree
line on plan from 809, however, as this is the single storey element and is set
in from the boundary, this is not considered to be harmful.

6.16

The relative depth of Plot D to the ground floor rear of 809 would be 5.4m at
ground floor and 3.9m at first floor. Although closer to 809, the depth of Plot
D would not exceed the rear depth of the existing building. It is also noted

Page 21

that there are outbuildings including a wooden shed at 809 adjacent to the
boundary with the proposed Plot D. As such, the relative depth and position of
the development and Plot D would not create an unduly harmful impact to
the rear and rear garden of 809.
6.17

It is noted that due to the ground floor extension at 809, Plot D would have a
greater relative depth to the upper floor windows of 809. The RDG guidance
does not apply the 45 degree line guidance to upper floor windows, however,
it is considered that tdue to the set in of Plot D from the boundary, it would
not create unreasonable loss of light or outlook to the first floor rear windows
of 809.

6.18

All upper floor side windows are to be obscurely glazed and fixed close below
an internal height of 1.7m meaning that the development will not create
unreasonable overlooking to neighbours at 809.

6.19

805 St Albans Road
The development would be only marginal beyond the front and ground floor
rear of the adjacent property at 805 and would be inset 1m from the common
boundary. All upper floor side windows are to be obscurely glazed and fixed
close below an internal height of 1.7m. As such, the development has a
relationship with 805 fully compliant with the RDG and would not create loss
of light, outlook or privacy to this neighbour.

6.20

Gwent Close properties
The creation of houses at the site to replace the bungalow will create a
change in the rear outlook of Gwent Close properties. However, the
development will maintain a 16m rear garden depth which is in excess of the
11m guidance within the RDG. The development would also not infringe the
27.5m back to back distance or 27.5m privacy arc to the Gwent Close
properties. As such, the relationship with Gwent Close properties is fully
compliant with the guidance of the RDG and would not create unreasonable
loss of privacy or amenity to these occupiers.

6.21

(e) Access, parking and highway impact
The Watford District Plan states maximum parking standards within Appendix
2. This site is located within zone 4 and for the development of 4 x 4-bedroom
units, the maximum parking provision for the development should not exceed
12 spaces (4 x 3 spaces per dwelling max). The provision of parking for 4 cars
on the site would be within the maximum standards and is considered to be a
reasonable level of parking provision. The development uses the existing two
vehicle access and the access arrangements and turning within the site are
acceptable to the Highway Authority.

Page 22

6.22

(f) Bin and bicycle storage
Each plot includes secure bicycle and bin storage within the rear gardens of
each house and this is secured by condition.

7.

Consultation responses received

7.1

Statutory consultees and other organisations

7.2

Internal Consultees
Consultee
Hertfordshire
Highways
Tree officer
Waste and
recycling officer

7.3

Comments
No objection subject to
conditions
There are no protected trees
on site and no objection
No comments received

Officer response
Noted and conditions
added.
Noted.
No comments
received, however,
each dwelling includes
appropriate bin storage
and collection from St
Albans Road would be
maintained.

Interested parties
Letters were sent to 14 properties in the surrounding area. Responses have
been received from 7 properties with 1 general representation and 6
objections. The main comments are summarised below, the full letters are
available to view online:
Comments
Harm to the light, outlook and
privacy of neighbouring
properties

Increased traffic generation

Officer response
This is discussed in full in sections 6.14 to
6.20 of the report. The neighbouring
properties have benefited from the nature
of the existing bungalow adjacent to their
two storey houses. The development will
change this to create a two storey building.
However, this would not create
unreasonable harm to neighbours
The Highway Authority have not raised
concerns or objections in relation to traffic
generation.

Page 23

Insufficient parking

The height and design would be
odd in the streetscene and the
bungalow should be retained

Increased noise pollution

The proposed cycle path/access
is questioned and is a security
concern
Additional time is required for
neighbours to comment
The previous application was
refused.

The existing fence to the site is
not secure

Potential damage to property
and disruption during
construction works

8.

Maximum parking standards seek to
prevent increased traffic generation. The
provision of one space per dwelling is
appropriate for this location.
The buildings in the area are predominantly
two storey and the two storey development
would be entirely appropriate. The design
approach is acceptable as discussed in
sections 6.5 to 6.10 of the report.
Creation of new residential dwellings in a
residential area is reasonable and
acceptable.
This has been amended in revised plans. The
dwellings would have access along the side
and rear of the site only.
All comments received since the neighbours
consultations on 30th March have been
accepted and considered.
National and local planning policy has
changed considerably since the previous
application was considered in 2006.
Nonetheless, the concerns regarding the
design, highway and amenity impacts of the
previous development have been overcome
by this revised design. Planning applications
must be considered on their individual
merits.
At this time, this is a civil matter between
two properties, however, should the
development be approved, secure boundary
fencing is required as part of the
landscaping condition.
Any disruption during construction works
would be temporary and a construction
management plan would be secured by
condition. If damage were to be caused
during construction this would be a civil
matter.

Recommendation
That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions listed below:

Page 24

Conditions
1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun within
a period of three years commencing on the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following
drawings, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The following drawings are hereby approved:
20-68-01 Existing Plans
20-68-20 Rev F Proposed Plans
20-68-21 Rev F Proposed Elevations
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

3.

Prior to the commencement of the site works the applicant shall submit
a construction management plan setting out details on any demolition
works, removal of materials from site, parking for all contractors, subcontractors, visitors and delivery vehicles, storage of materials to be
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with
the Highway Authority and that area shall be maintained available for
use at all times during the period of site works.
Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of
the highway

4.

A 2mx2m pedestrian visibility sight splay, free from obstruction
between a height of 600mm and 2.0m and relative to the back of the
footway shall be provided on both sides of vehicular access prior to the
operational use and thereafter.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of the development in the
interest of highway safety

5.

Before being brought in to use new parking areas shall be surfaced in
tarmacadam or similar durable bound material and arrangements shall
be made for surface water from the site to be intercepted and disposed
of separately so that it does not discharge into highway.

Page 25

Reason: To avoid the carriage of extraneous material surface water
from the site into the highway so as to safeguard the interest of
highway safety.
6.

Prior to commencement of the proposed development works the
existing gates at the two access points should be removed permanently
to avoid vehicles parking on a busy highway a main distributor road for
gates to be opened and closed.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and maintaining the free and
safe flow of traffic.

7.

No external facing materials shall be installed on any building of the
development until full details and samples of all the materials to be
used for the external surfaces of the buildings have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the building and
the character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy
UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

8.

No part of the development shall be occupied until full details of both
hard and soft landscaping works, including details of all trees and soft
landscaping to be planted, any changes to ground levels around the
building, all pathways, all hard surfacing, amenity areas/paving and
boundary treatments have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include increased
soft landscaping to the front area of the site. The approved landscaping
scheme, with the exception of the planting, shall be completed prior to
any occupation of the development. Any proposed planting shall be
completed not later than the first available planting and seeding season
after completion of the development. Any new trees or plants which
within a period of five years die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species, or in accordance with details
approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site, to
safeguard trees, to ensure the provision of suitable car parking and
turning areas, to ensure suitable screening is maintained or provided
between the site and neighbouring occupiers in accordance with saved
policies T21 and SE37 of the Watford District Plan 2000

Page 26

9.

The refuse, recycling and cycle storage shall be constructed and
installed in accordance with the approved drawings and made available
for use prior to the occupation of any part of the development. The
storage shall be retained as approved at all times thereafter.
Reason: To ensure adequate facilities are provided for the future
occupiers and in the interests of the visual appearance of the site, in
accordance with saved Policies SE7 and T10 of the Watford District Plan
2000 and Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

10.

All upper floor windows in the south and north side elevations shall be
installed and retained with obscure-glazing, and shall be non-opening
other than in parts of the windows which are more than 1.7 metres
above the floor of the room in which the window is installed.
Reason: To prevent overlooking and consequent loss of privacy to
neighbouring premises pursuant to Policy UD1 (Delivering High Quality
Design) of the Watford Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2006-2031 and the
Residential Design Guide (2016).

Informatives
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

IN907 - Positive-proactive statement – GRANT
IN910 - Building Regulations
IN912 - Hours of Construction
IN909 - Street Naming and Numbering
IN913 - Community Infrastructure Levy Liability

Page 27

Existing plans (Drawing No. 20 68 01)

Proposed plans (Drawing No. 20 68 20 Rev F)

Page 28

Proposed Elevations (Drawing No. 20 68 21 Rev F)

Page 29

Agenda Item 6

Committee date
Application reference
Site address
Proposal

Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
committee Item
Target decision date
Statutory publicity
Case officer
Ward
1.

Wednesday, 3rd June 2020
20/00121/VARM - 7-15 Bridle Path
Variation of Condition 2 (approved drawings) and deletion
of Condition 16 (highway works) of planning permission
16/01046/FULM for the demolition of the existing
buildings and erection of a part 5 storey, part 8 storey,
part 9 storey 124 bedroom hotel (Use Class C1) including
ancillary café/restaurant and bar facility and associated
landscaping and access.
BSRE Bridle Propco Limited
RPS Group
Section 73
Major application
4th May 2020
Public notice and site notice
Paul Baxter, paul.baxter@watford.gov.uk
Central

Recommendation
Approve subject to the section 106 heads of terms and conditions as set out in
section 8 of this report.

2.

Site and surroundings

2.1

The application site has an area of 0.085 hectare and is rectangular in shape,
measuring 55m long by 15m wide. It has an east-west orientation with a
frontage to Bridle Path at both ends due to the U-shaped layout of Bridle Path.
The site is currently occupied by a series of single storey and two storey
buildings located along the northern and southern boundaries of the site, with
a central access in between. The buildings were previously used as workshops,
principally for car repairs and maintenance, but are currently vacant.

2.2

The immediate area of Bridle Path contains a variety of different commercial
buildings. Immediately to the north of the site is the 8 storey Holiday Inn
Express hotel (beyond this the former 3 storey Clarendon House office
building has recently been demolished, with planning permission granted for a
14 storey mixed-use building). Immediately to the south of the site is the 2
storey Shire House office building. Beyond this, on the southern side of Bridle
Path, are the 2/3 storey office buildings fronting Station Road. Most of these

Page 30

are former detached and semi-detached residential properties that have been
converted to office use over many years. To the west are the two, 4/5 storey
Egale House office buildings which front St Albans Road. Finally, to the east is
Benskin House occupied by The Flag public house. This is a Grade II listed
building comprising the 3 storey original hotel building facing Watford
Junction Station and the 2 storey former stables range fronting Station Road
and extending along the eastern side of Bridle Path.
2.3

Further information, including the site plan and drawings, is available in the
appendices to the report and on the council’s website.

3.

Summary of the proposal

3.1

Proposal
To vary Condition 2 (approved drawings) and delete Condition 16 (highway
works) of planning permission 16/01046/FULM for the demolition of the
existing buildings and erection of a part 5 storey, part 8 storey, part 9 storey
124 bedroom hotel (Use Class C1) including ancillary café/restaurant and bar
facility and associated landscaping and access.

3.2

The changes are required due to an area of land at the western end of the site
not being within the ownership of the applicant nor being highway land. As
such, the original proposal within the approved scheme to use this land to
form part of a delivery lay-by cannot be implemented without the consent of a
third party land owner. Alternative servicing arrangements are now proposed
from the public highway excluding this third party land.

3.3

No other changes are proposed as part of this application although nonmaterial amendments have previously been agreed to the approved scheme.

3.4

Planning permission 16/01046/FULM was lawfully commenced in October
2019 by the installation of Pile 47 forming part of the approved foundation
plan. As such, Condition 1 (3 year time period for commencement) has been
complied with and is no longer required.

3.5

Conclusion
The proposed changes to the servicing arrangements at the western end of
the site are considered acceptable. They will have no impact on the approved
building.

4.

Relevant policies

Page 31

Members should refer to the background papers attached to the agenda.
These highlight the policy framework under which this application is
determined. Specific policy considerations with regard to this particular
application are detailed in section 6 below.
5.

Relevant site history/background information

5.1

16/01046/FULM - Demolition of the existing buildings and erection of a part 5
storey, part 8 storey, part 9 storey 124 bedroom hotel (Use Class C1) including
ancillary café/restaurant and bar facility and associated landscaping and
access. Planning permission granted 2nd November 2016 subject to a section
106 agreement.
17/00295/DISCON - Details submitted pursuant to Condition 3 (external
materials), Condition 4 (details of windows and patterned brickwork),
Condition 5 (impact piling method statement), Condition 6 (land
contamination investigation), Condition 9 (surface water drainage), Condition
10 (surface water drainage) and Condition 11 (mains water scheme) of
planning permission ref. 16/01046/FULM. Approved 5th December 2017.
19/01008/DISCON - Details submitted pursuant to Condition 6(ii),(iii) and (iv)
(land contamination) and Condition 7 (verification report) of planning
permission 16/01046/FULM. Approved 16th September 2019.
20/00120/NONMAT - Non-material amendment to planning permission
16/01046/FULM for the demolition of the existing buildings and erection of a
part 5 storey, part 8 storey, part 9 storey 124 bedroom hotel (Use Class C1)
including ancillary café/restaurant and bar facility and associated landscaping
and access. Minor alterations to the massing and height of the permitted
building and reduction in the footprint of the building by 1 metre across the
perimeter of the site. Approved 6th March 2020.

6.

Main considerations

6.1

The main issue to be considered in the determination of the application is the
servicing arrangements of the approved development.

6.2

The existing site has two vehicular access points from Bridle Path, one at its
eastern end and one at its western end. These will be closed off as part of the
development. At the western end of the site, the public highway currently
forms an unmade apron between the edge of the carriageway and the site
boundary. Adjoining this is an unmade strip of land in third party ownership
over which the application site has a right of access (pedestrians only). It was

Page 32

proposed as part of the approved scheme that these two areas of land would
be resurfaced to form a delivery/servicing bay. This area would have been of
sufficient size to accommodate a service vehicle up to 12m in length which
would have allowed servicing of the hotel clear of the carriageway.
Unfortunately, this is not now possible as no agreement has been reached on
the area of land in third party ownership.
6.3

As part of the original application, it was anticipated the size of hotel
proposed would generate 14 service vehicles per week (approximately 2 per
day, with no deliveries/collections on Sundays and bank holidays). These
would comprise 7 for linen, 3 for food, 1 for beer/wine and 3 for refuse. With
the delivery bay at the western end of the building, it was proposed that all
vehicles would access and egress the site from St Albans Road. This remains
the case. However, in the absence of a formal delivery bay, servicing is now
proposed to be from the public highway in Bridle Path. This is acceptable in
principle providing no undue obstruction of the highway occurs.

6.4

In this case, vehicle tracking diagrams have been submitted to show how a
10m rigid servicing vehicle is able to enter from St Albans Road, park in front
of the site with a 3m clearance allowing other vehicles to pass, and leave via
St Albans Road. This is considered acceptable in principle as Bridle Path does
not carry any through traffic and properties on the eastern side of Bridle Path
can be serviced directly from Station Road. The Highway Authority has no
objections to the proposal subject to the applicant entering into a s.278
highways agreement to undertake works to the highway at the eastern and
western end of the site to remove the crossovers and reinstate the
footpath/verges. In order to allow the deletion of Condition 16, the applicant
has agreed to enter into a s.106 agreement to undertake these works.

6.5

An integral bin store will be incorporated into the building at its eastern end.
Tracking diagrams for a refuse vehicle have been included in the Transport
Statement to demonstrate that a vehicle can enter and leave this eastern spur
of Bridle Path in forward gear, enabling refuse collection to take place.

7.

Consultation responses received

7.1

Statutory consultees and other organisations
Hertfordshire County Council Highway Authority
Has no objections to the proposal subject to the applicant entering into a
s.278 highways agreement to undertake works to the highway at the eastern
and western end of the site.

7.2

Internal Consultees

Page 33

None required.
7.3

Interested parties
The application was advertised in the Watford Observer by a public notice on
14th February 2020. Two site notices were also posted outside the site on 14 th
February 2020. No replies have been received.

8.

Recommendation
That planning permission be granted subject to the completion of a legal
agreement under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure
the planning obligations listed below and the following conditions:
Section 106 Heads of Terms
i)

To secure the following works within the public highway, as shown in
principle on approved drawing no. 1321-GTA-ZZ-XX-PS-A-0001 Rev.
P04:
a)

b)

The closure of the existing access at the eastern end of the site
and the reinstatement of the footpath within the public
highway.
The closure of the existing access at the western end of the site
and the reinstatement of the footpath within the public
highway.

Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved drawings:1321-GTA-ZZ-XX-PS-0001_Rev P04
1321-GTA-00-PG-A-0002_Rev P01
1321-GTA-3Z-ZZ-GA-A-0001_Rev P05
1321-GTA-3Z-ZZ-GA-A-0002_Rev P04
1321-GTA-3Z-ZZ-GA-A-0003_Rev P04
1321-GTA-3Z-ZZ-GA-A-0004_Rev P04
1321-GTA-3Z-ZZ-GA-A-0005_Rev P04
1321-GTA-3Z-XX-GE-A-0001_Rev P04
1321-GTA-3Z-XX-GE-A-0002_Rev P02
1321-GTA-3Z-XX-GE-A-0003_Rev P04
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

Page 34

2.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following
external materials, window reveals and patterned brickwork, as
approved under application ref. 17/00295/DISCON, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
Drawing nos. 4156/WD/220D, 221E, 222D, 240B, 241A, 242A, 460
Ground floor facing brick - Vandersanden Neo Magnolia
Upper floors facing brick - Hoskins Brick Ledbury
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the
character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy UD1 of
the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

3.

The foundations of the development shall only be constructed utilising
flight auger piling, in accordance with the following details approved
under ref. 17/00295/DISCON, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority:
24761_T_DRAFT - Topographical Survey
14414-10 T2 - Piling Layout
14116:SK02 - Sewer and Pile Location Plan
Reason: The proposed works will be in close proximity to underground
sewerage utility infrastructure. Piling has the potential to impact on
local underground sewerage utility infrastructure.

4.

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is
found to be present at the site then no further development shall be
carried out until the developer has submitted to, and obtained written
approval from, the Local Planning Authority for a remediation strategy
detailing how this unsuspected contamination is to be dealt with. All
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the health of the future occupiers of the site
and to prevent pollution of controlled waters (the site is within Source
Protection Zone 2), in accordance with Policies SE24 and SE28 of the
Watford District Plan 2000.

5.

The development shall only be carried out in accordance with the
surface water drainage scheme, as approved under ref.
17/00295/DISCON, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority:

Page 35

Drawing nos. 14116:101 T2, 102 T1, 103 T1, 104 T1
Drainage Maintenance Plan dated 02 June 2017 (ref. DS/14116) by
Simpson Consulting Engineers.
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation
and subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing
arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period
as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning
authority.
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory disposal and
storage of surface water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding
to the proposed development and future occupants, in accordance with
Policy SD2 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.
6.

The development shall not be occupied until a final Travel Plan, based
upon the submitted Travel Plan by RGP (Ref. RLR/WHIT/16/3182/TP02,
dated July 2016), has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning.
Reason: To ensure that the development offers a wide range of travel
choices to reduce the impact of travel and transport on the
environment.

7.

The development shall not be occupied until a detailed soft landscaping
scheme for all the land within the site has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
landscaping scheme shall be carried out not later than the first
available planting and seeding season after completion of
development. Any trees or plants whether new or existing which within
a period of five years die, are removed or become seriously damaged
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of
similar size and species, or in accordance with details approved by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the
wider area, in accordance with Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan
Core Strategy 2006-31.

8.

The development shall not be occupied until a detailed hard
landscaping scheme for all the land within the site, including details of
all site boundary treatments, has been submitted to and approved in

Page 36

writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the works have been
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the
wider area, in accordance with Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan
Core Strategy 2006-31.
9.

The development shall not be occupied until the refuse and recycling
bin store, as shown on approved drawing no. 1321-GTA-ZZ-00-PG-A0002 P01, has been constructed and made available for use. These
facilities shall be retained as approved at all times.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and to
ensure that adequate facilities exist for residents of the proposed
development, in accordance with Policy SE7 of the Watford District
Plan 2000.

10.

No plant or equipment shall be sited on the external elevations of the
building unless details of the plant or equipment have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details
shall include size, appearance, siting and technical specifications
relating to noise and odour control as appropriate.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the
character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy UD1 of
the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

Informatives
1. IN907 - Positive-proactive statement – GRANT
2. IN910 - Building Regulations
3. IN912 - Hours of Construction
4. IN913 - Community Infrastructure Levy Liability
5. IN909 - Street Naming and Numbering
6. IN915 - Highway Works - HCC agreement required

Page 37

Site location plan

Aerial view (Google Maps)

Page 38

Vehicle tracking for 10m rigid

Page 39

